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Our primary objective is to remain  
a quality company committed  
to creating value for our customers, 
shareholders, employees  
and suppliers. 

We have always based our strategies 

on this goal, making the customer our 

foremost concern and striving to be a 

benchmark in our market. We know that 

long-term growth is not dependent on a 

single variable, but rather on the sum of 

all the parts that fit together to form a 

cohesive and lasting whole.

Year after year, we innovate and invest in training and skill 

proficiency, logistics, sales tools for our customers, management 

tools and acquisitions at the right price. We are  thorough and 

cautious in our management, focusing on controlling risks in 

order to maintain the flexibility and financial strength needed to 

pursue our expansion and growth. It is in this way that we stay on 

track, even in challenging economic times.
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Solidly positioned  
for further growth

The fourth quarter ended November 30, 2008  
represented our 52nd consecutive quarter of net  
earnings growth in relation to comparable periods 
of previous years.

Rising results • Substantial financial resources  
• Healthy, debt-free balance sheet

Sales
(in millions of $) 441.4
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Net earnings
(in millions of $) 35.6
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Earnings per share
(in $) 1.56
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Cash flows from 
operating activities
(in millions of $) 42.9
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Shareholders’ equity
(in millions of $) 228.2
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1998-2008 
Average annual growth
Sales: 11.7%
Net earnings: 16.6%
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Financial Highlights
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Appreciation: 636%
since initial stock market listing

Market capitalization 
as at November 30, 2008

$345.9 million

470% growth 
since initial stock market listing

* Before net change in non-cash working capital items

Listing of shares (RCH)  
on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX)  
in 1993

Years ended November 30 (in thousands of $, except per-share amounts and number of shares)

2008
$

2007
$

2006
$

2005
$

2004
$

Results
Sales 441,428 436,157 385,631 350,177 320,199

EBITDA 58,248 57,101 53,059 45,785 43,367

(% of sales) 13.2 13.1 13.8 13.1 13.5

Net earnings 35,607 33,954 31,931 27,688 26,150

Cash flows from operating activities* 42,907 39,195 36,400 31,923 29,823

Financial position
Working capital 130,865 120,995 103,909 105,927 82,364

Total assets 273,484 258,778 245,002 202,971 183,260

Interest-bearing debt 649 6,971 13,635 3,499 7,019

Shareholders’ equity 228,234 209,096 186,584 162,300 139,164

Per share
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (000s) 22,785 23,080 23,136 23,165 23,049

Net earnings ($) 1.56 1.47 1.38 1.20 1.13

Diluted net earnings ($) 1.56 1.46 1.37 1.19 1.12

Cash flows from operating activities* ($) 1.88 1.70 1.57 1.38 1.29

Book value ($) 10.39 9.05 8.09 7.01 6.03
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Strongly customer-oriented from our inception – we constantly adapt to our custo-
mers’ business reality, with a passion for excellence. Through our 
solutions, innovations and the sales tools we design for our cus-
tomers, we contribute to the competitiveness and growth of some 
40,000 manufacturers and retailers in North America.

Our North American leadership in a specialized and highly fragmented market gives us unique 
service capabilities and allows us to seize acquisition opportunities 
that are in line with our long-term vision. 

We have made 34 acquisitions in North America over the past 20 years – local businesses 
generating complementarity, synergy and profitability, that have 
helped diversify our market segments and product offering, while 
providing us with new expertise. We have the financial resources to 
carry on this expansion. 

We are a catalyst for innovations from a wide range of suppliers who are among the best in the 
world. Our offering comprises some 58,000 products (SKUs) in a 
wide variety of categories. More than 50% of these products are 
sold under our own or exclusive brands. 

We have a talented team of some 1,300 people with specialized skills, including a sales and 
marketing team that stands apart in our market, and we make 
training a priority. More than 60% of our employees are Richelieu 
shareholders. 

We have the most robust and extensive distribution network in our field in North 
America, with distribution logistics adapted to our customers’ 
needs, an “Everything under one roof” service approach, and a 
network-wide integrated management system.

Our growth 
vectors
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31 distribution centres and 2 manufacturing centres in Canada
  Distribution: Darmouth, Moncton (2), Drummondville, Quebec (2), Montreal (2), Longueuil (2),  

Laval (2), Ottawa, Toronto (2), Barrie, Kitchener, Sudbury, Thunder Bay, Winnipeg, Regina, Saskatoon, 
Edmonton, Calgary, Kelowna (2), Vancouver (4), Victoria

  Manufacturing: Longueuil, Notre-Dame-Des-Pins

16 distribution centres in the United States
  Boston, New York (2), Charlotte, Greenville, Atlanta, Columbus, Detroit, Pompano, Riviera Beach, 

Hialeah, Dania, Nashville, High Point, Seattle, Portland

The most robust and extensive 
distribution network in our sector
The optimal combination of a local presence, an offering including  
the most innovative products worldwide and distribution logistics  
adapted to customer needs.

49 centres
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Message
to Shareholders
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From the beginning, we have made it a priority to apply the fundamental  
principles of sound operational and financial management and to constantly 

improve our business model.  This commitment is deeply rooted 
in Richelieu’s culture in order to ensure its stability and sustained 
growth, as reflected by our performance over the past year in a 
more difficult economic climate.  Our financial strength in 2008 
allowed us to buy back 5% of our shares, while eliminating our 
debt, paying dividends to our shareholders, making two acquisi-
tions and maintaining substantial resources for future develop-
ments. Our growth strategy has thus far enabled us to weather 
the difficult phases of economic cycles and to uphold our com-
mitments to our shareholders, customers, employees and sup-
pliers.  In today’s economy, we will continue to focus our strategy 
on team and service quality, innovation, expense control, internal 
growth and acquisitions at the right price – and our position will 
thereby be further enhanced. 
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Our financial stability stems from 
profitable growth and sound financial 
management. 

Year after year, we generate substantial cash flows 
by methodically executing our operational strategy 
– and we rigorously manage our liquidity and strive 
to maintain a healthy, stable balance sheet. During 
the year, we virtually eliminated our debt, which 
stood at $0.6 million as at November 30, 2008, 
and our long-term financial liabilities do not include 
any items that could hinder our financial flexibility 
in the future.

In 2008, we continued to manage our oper- 
ations so as to generate healthy profit  
marg ins .  We ach ieved net  ea rn ings of 
$35.6 million or $1.56 per share on sales of 
$441.4 mil l ion, and our cash f lows total led  
$42.9 million or $1.88 per share, up 9.5% over  
2007. As at November 30, 2008, our work-
ing capital stood at $130.9 million, our cash at  
$6.1 million and our return on average equity 
at 16.3%. During the year, we paid $7.3 million 
in dividends and invested $20.1 million to pur-
chase shares for cancellation. Thus, we returned 
$27.4 million to our shareholders during the year 
while investing in our distribution network, ser-
vice quality and top-of-the-line sales tools for  
our customers.

Diversifying our markets ensures stability in  
different phases of the economic cycle and under 
more challenging conditions. 

The past two decades have been very active in terms of market 
development, centre start-ups and business acquisitions that 
have expanded and diversified our customer base in Canada and 
the United States. In 2008, we further diversified by acquiring 
Top Supplies, which gave us access to the home furnishings 
manufacturers segment in North Carolina, and Acroma, which 
broadened our customer base in the finishing products segment in 
British Columbia. Market diversification stimulates our inter-
nal growth through cross-selling, increases our purchasing 
power and consolidates our leadership. More importantly, it 
allows to outperform our industry, even in the 2008 economic  
climate – as the sales increases posted in several of our  
Canadian market segments, especially residential and com-
mercial cabinet making and renovation superstores, helped offset 
the downturn in the United States.

Richard Lord
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Our acquisition strategy is well-adapted 
to our vision and market and allows us 
to constantly create value.

We operate in a highly fragmented market pre-
senting frequent business acquisition opportun-
ities. The acquisition criteria established over 20 
years ago remain unchanged and will continue to 
apply in the future: 

+ first, compatibility with our operations and cor-
porate culture, since we wish to remain special-
ized while broadening our market bases; 

+ and the quality of the human resources, 
who must represent new sources of skill for  
Richelieu. We are proud to point out that up to 
now, we have been able to retain most of the hu-
man resources coming from our acquisitions; 

+ finally, the return on investment, which is a rule 
of thumb for making cost-effective acquisi-
tions offering synergy potential in terms of 
operations, additional products and increased 
purchasing power. 

Combined with internal growth, the acquisitions 
we make almost every year enable us to create 
further value. We believe that the current eco-
nomic climate could yield acquisition opportunities 
under very attractive conditions. We will analyze 
them carefully and proceed only if they meet  
our criteria. 

We strive for excellence in every aspect of customer 
service.

In 2008, we further enhanced our ability to better serve our cus-
tomers, given our broadened and diversified product line, and 
the importance for our customers to be increasingly competitive. 

We strive for excellence in our approach, through — the quality 
relationships and technical advice of our sales specialists, who 
frequently meet with customers at their place of business — our 
customer service representatives in our 47 distribution centres, who 
are in daily telephone contact with customers — the welcome and 
quality of our showrooms — or richelieu.com, which gives users 
access to the most comprehensive selection of functional and 
decorative hardware products in North America. 

Our website not only features the widest variety of products, but 
is also designed to promote our customers’ efficiency by providing 
functions that facilitate the selection of products and components 
and prevent errors when orders are placed. In 2008, monthly online 
sales on richelieu.com reached approximately $3.5 million. 

On the agenda for 2009 is the addition of new functionalities to our 
website, which will make it an exceptional and truly unique portal in 
our industry in North America. We are integrating state-of-the-art 
software to optimize our product and order management systems 
and to allow our customers – regardless of their location and the 
complexity of their projects – to rapidly obtain our solutions in 
response to their needs, including product specifications, prices 
and delivery dates. 

Our in-depth knowledge of our customers enabled us to develop  
a cutting-edge management tool in order to continue serving 
them better and offer new products suited to their needs.  

We continue to collaborate with providers of design and 
sales sof tware solutions targeted to designers, including  
20-20 Technologies Inc., in order to integrate more of our products 
into its software programs, especially our lines of kitchen acces-
sories and closet solutions. 
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We provide our customers with a combination  
of value and know-how. For them, the innova-
tions we continuously introduce to our offering 
bring them true added value, considering that 
they have to stand apart and rapidly respond to 
their customers’ growing demand for innovative 
and functional products. The solid relationships 
we maintain with the world’s leading and most 
creative suppliers ensure that we keep abreast 
of the latest innovations and benefit from a high-
quality and reliable source of supply. In 2008, we 
added more than 1,000 new products to our mix, 
including new automatic door closing systems 
and state-of-the-art drawers, new lighting lines, 
a variety of kitchen and bathroom sinks and fau-
cets and a host of decorative products. We also 
expanded our offering of LEEDTM-certified “green” 
hardware products. 

During the year, we rolled out network-wide new 
sales tools that are unique in our North American 
market, including cutting-edge displays, cata-
logues and brochures incorporating our innova-
tions as well as a new 1,500-page comprehensive 
directory of our products and their specifications. 
All these tools are also available to our customers 
at richelieu.com as well.

In 2009, we will pursue our growth thanks to our investments in 
innovations for the retailers and renovation superstores market, 
as we did in 2008, with our five most innovative product lines in  
North America, under five different brands.

We regularly invest in improving our network and 
information technology systems. 

Outstanding service requires distribution logistics that are 
reliable at all times and perfectly adapted to our customers’ 
needs. The capacity and quality of our distribution centres, and the 
effectiveness of our management information systems and logis-
tics chain are regularly assessed in order to make the necessary 
improvements and maintain our high service standards and level 
of efficiency. We continuously ensure that our distribution logistics 
adequately meet the needs of the manufacturers and retailers  
we serve.

In 2008, we finished implementing our information technology 
system in all our U.S. acquisitions. We also started deploying the 
transportation cost management system developed the previous 
year throughout our North American network.

In order to reduce our operating costs and meet increased  
demand, we merged two major distribution centres and relocated 
another centre into larger premises. We also continued to improve 
our showrooms, including those in Halifax, Mississauga, Boston  
and Detroit.
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Richelieu benefits from a strong, 
stable team.

In 2008, we continued to consolidate our team by 
hiring a vice-president-general manager, a general 
manager for our U.S. operations and a specialized 
logistic and information technology manager – so 
we are now better equipped than ever to meet 
challenges over the long term. In addition to the 
fact that more than 60% of our employees are 
Richelieu shareholders – which reflects a true 
sense of commitment and trust from our staff 
– some important values are shared within the 
Company: autonomy, service quality, team spirit 
and integrity.  

In 2008, we continued to invest in training, particu-
larly in programs designed for our sales team. We 
operate in a rapidly evolving industry influenced 
by new technologies, materials and designs, and 
every year, we integrate many innovations into 
our product mix. Therefore, training our sales and 
customer service specialists is a priority to ensure 
they can provide outstanding service and technical 
advice. Our training programs also are paired 
with a knowledge retention auditing system.

With the support of a competent and talented 
team, we will do our utmost to meet the challenges 
of 2009. We will build upon the strength of our 
organization and our financial stability to further 
penetrate all our market segments and complete 
other profitable acquisitions. 

Considerable growth potential lies ahead for us in North America.  
The specialty hardware products industry remains one of the 
most dynamic and creative and the hardware content continues to 
increase in most woodworking and renovation projects. We have 
a large, diversified base of loyal customers, and proven service 
capabilities, specifically a solid, specialized and well-trained sales 
force, advanced sales tools, a website that is unique in our market, 
logistics adapted to customers’ needs and the most comprehen-
sive product offering in North America, including top innovations. 

In 2009, we will reap the benefits of recent acquisitions and 
our medium and long-term agreements with retailers including 
renovation superstore chains. We will also step up our efforts to 
further develop the residential and commercial woodworking, 
kitchen cabinet manufacturers and retailers markets. In addition, 
we will continue to efficiently manage our costs, using the best 
procedures. 

Over the next year, the market could offer us attractive opportun-
ities to acquire specialized businesses to broaden our offering in 
new niches, expand our geographic coverage and increase our 
sales and net earnings. We will carefully study the conditions to 
ensure the value creation potential of such projects.

We are committed to provide our customers with added value that 
will contribute to their competitiveness and success. Regarding 
our shareholders, we will continue to provide them with solid value 
and maximize the return on their investment in Richelieu. For our 
employees, we will continue to ensure that they always benefit from 
a stimulating working environment and competitive conditions. And 
we will maintain win-win partnerships through solid and creative 
ties with our suppliers. 

We would like to thank all our business partners, customers, 
shareholders, investors and suppliers. We would also like to ex-
press our appreciation to our directors for their contribution to the 
Company’s success and to our employees for their commitment 
and the quality of their work. Together, we will remain on track 
and headed for further growth, and we will seize and create 
new opportunities.

(Signed) Richard Lord
President and Chief Executive Officer
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We constantly adapt  
to our customers’  
business reality

11

Our customer approach requires the 
contribution of every member of our 
team, and its daily implementation is 
of the utmost importance. We ensure 
that all our activities do their part so 
we can meet our customers’ needs 
and exceed their expectations.

The art of serving customers... 
every customer is unique.

As an importer, distributor and manufacturer of specialty hardware, our approach is rooted 
in our customer service, including our sales and marketing activities, product strategy 
and logistics. All are links in the chain, and nothing is left to chance – they are our diffe-
rentiating advantages. They are monitored by an integrated management system using 
high-technology tools and designed for our needs. We constantly enhance it to optimize 
our distribution centre operations, manage our offering while ensuring our products are 
always well adapted to needs, provide customers with new solutions to increase their 
competitiveness and efficiently manage transportation costs. 

To compete in a global market, our customers require the best purchasing and supply 
conditions, including more service, availability, quality and choice. We make the 
contact and relationships with our customers a priority so we can keep track of their 
business profiles and evolving needs. Thus, we can fine-tune our management tools, 
product solutions and customer service accordingly. 
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The best service:  
the best response  
to our customers’ needs

As a distributor, our primary  
objective is to provide our custo-
mers with the right product, at the 
right time, in the right place and under 
the best conditions. But we go beyond  
by giving them access to the world’s top  
innovations, offering a wide variety of sales 
tools unique in our field and further facilitating 
the task with the new richelieu.com functionalities.   

To anticipate our customers’ needs, we must get to know them 
and forge a relationship of trust. Our sales team and the customer 
service representatives working in all our centres regularly take 
training courses focused on listening, efficiency, rigour and skills 
upgrading. Thus, they optimize the time spent with the customer 
and make it a helpful service-oriented experience.  

To anticipate our customers’ needs, we must also build partnerships 
with the leading manufacturers worldwide. We have established 
solid relationships and collaborate with many manufacturers in 
Canada, the United States, Europe and Asia. The strategic agree-
ments we have developed over the years allow us to better know our  
North American customers’ specific needs and to contribute to 
their differentiation efforts with the innovations we constantly add 
to our product offering. 

+ Everything under one roof  approach
+ Strict control
+ Decentralized service
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In 2009, we will further penetrate the 
retailers market comprising thousands  
of popular neighbourhood stores as well  
as renovation chains that are pursuing  
their expansion in Canada while renewing  
their store and superstore concept.
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Richelieu.com — a unique  
web portal in our industry

16

designed to foster 
the efficiency of our 
customers, architects  
and designers

Designed primarily for our customers, architects 
and designers, our website is accessible to all and 
consumers can visit it for inspiration and informa-
tion about a wide variety of functional and decora-
tive hardware products. Richelieu.com showcases 
tens of thousands of products and a combination 
of functions that greatly facilitate our customers’ 
purchasing, from the efficient selection of products 
based on their project parameters to just-in-time 
delivery, in most cases within 24 hours of  
placing the order.

Our website features a comprehensive purchasing 
process including a real-time mechanism that en-
sures an optimal order fill rate and allows custo-
mers to efficiently manage their orders by project, 
immediately calculate shipping costs and pay bills 
by credit card. In 2008, our customers made fur-
ther use of the site and online sales increased by 
some 50%.
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Modules that are unique in the industry and allow 
customers to rapidly find the most appropriate 
decorative hardware, kitchen, closet and lighting 
solutions to their specific needs.

You ask... we deliver!

17
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+ Consolidated sales totalled $441.4 million, up 1.2% over 2007 and 

14.5% over 2006.

+ Earnings before income taxes, interest, amortization and non-
controlling interest (EBITDA) amounted to $58.2 million, an increase 
of 2.0% over 2007 and 9.8% over 2006.

+ Net earnings grew to $35.6 million, up 4.9% over 2007 and 11.5%  
over 2006. 

+ Earnings per share rose to $1.56 (basic and diluted), an increase of 6.1% 
over the 2007 basic earnings per share (6.8% over the 2007 diluted EPS) 
and 13.0% over the 2006 basic EPS (13.9% over the 2006 diluted EPS).

+ The fourth quarter ended November 30, 2008 represented the 52nd 
consecutive quarter of net earnings growth over the comparable periods 
of prior years. 

+ Cash flows from operating activities (before net change in non-cash 
working capital balances related to operations) increased by 9.5% to 
$42.9 million or $1.88 per share.

+ Working capital amounted to $130.9 million for a current ratio of 4.3:1 
as at November 30, 2008.

+ Total interest-bearing debt was lowered to $0.6 million, down from  
$7.0 million as at November 30, 2007.

+ Return on average equity worked out to 16.3% for 2008, compared 
with 17.2% for 2007 and 18.3% for 2006.

+ The Company paid $7.3 million in dividends to shareholders and 
purchased common shares outstanding under the normal course 
issuer bid for $20.1 million. 

+ Acquisition of the assets of Top Supplies, Inc. (High Point, North 
Carolina) on April 7, 2008. Top Supplies, Inc. is a distributor of decorative 
and functional hardware and related products primarily serving a customer 
base of home furnishing manufacturers and commercial cabinet makers.

+ Acquisition of the principal assets of Acroma Sales Ltd. (British 
Columbia) on July 28, 2008. Acroma Sales Ltd. is a distributor of wood 
finishing products and its business will be integrated with Richelieu’s 
distribution centres operating in Vancouver and Kelowna.

In 2008, we returned a total of $27.4 million to our shareholders, and yet we retained all the financial resources 
needed to pursue our expansion and growth in 2009. Our excellent financial position enabled us to pay 
shareholder dividends of $7.3 million and to purchase 5% of our common shares outstanding for $20.1 million in 
2008. We consider this share purchase to be a great investment for the Company and a good way to increase 
the long-term value we offer shareholders.
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This management’s report relates to Richelieu Hardware Ltd.’s  
consolidated operating results and cash flows for the year 
ended November 30, 2008, in comparison with the year 
ended November 30, 2007, as well as the Company’s 
financial position at those dates. This report should be 
read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes for the fiscal year 
ended November 30, 2008 appearing in the Company’s 
Annual Report. In this management’s report, “Richelieu” or 
the “Company” designates, as the case may be, Richelieu 
Hardware Ltd. and its subsidiaries and divisions, or one of 
its subsidiaries or divisions. Various supplementary docu-
ments, such as the Annual Information Form, interim man-
agement’s reports, Management Proxy Circular, certificates 
and press releases issued by Richelieu, are available on 
SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.

The information contained in this management’s re-
port accounts for any major event occurring prior to  
January 22, 2009, on which date the audited consolidated 
financial statements and the management’s report were 
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. Unless 
otherwise indicated, the financial information presented 
below, including tabular amounts, is expressed in Canadian 
dollars and prepared in accordance with Canadian gener-
ally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

Richelieu uses earnings before income taxes, interest, 
amortization and non-controlling interest (“EBITDA”) be-
cause this measure enables management to assess the 
Company’s operational performance. This measure is a 
widely accepted financial indicator of a company’s ability 
to service and incur debt. However, EBITDA should not 
be considered by an investor as an alternative to oper-
ating income or net earnings, an indicator of operating 
performance or cash flows, or as a measure of liquidity. 
Because EBITDA is not a standardized measurement as 
prescribed by GAAP, it may not be comparable to the 
EBITDA of other companies.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements set forth in this management’s report, 
including statements relating to the expected sufficiency 
of cash flows to cover contractual commitments, growth 
outlook and other statements not pertaining to past events, 
constitute forward-looking statements. In some cases, 
these statements are identified by the use of terms such 
as “may”, “could”, “might”, “intend” “should”, “expect”, 
“project”, “plan”, “believe”, “estimate” or the negative form 
of these expressions or other comparable variants.

These statements are based on the information available 
at the time they are written, on assumptions made by 
management and on the expectations of management, 
acting in good faith, regarding future events, includ-
ing economic conditions, exchange rate fluctuations,  
changes in operating expenses, the sufficiency of the 
Company’s deliveries and the absence of unusual events  
requiring supplementary capital expenditures.

Although management believes these assumptions and 
expectations to be reasonable based on the information 
available at the time they are written, they could prove 
inaccurate. Forward-looking statements are also subject, 
by their very nature, to known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties such as those related to the industry, 
acquisitions, labour relations, credit, key officers, supply 
and product liability, as well as other factors set forth herein 
(see the “Risk Management” section of this management’s 
report and the Annual Information Form). 

Richelieu’s actual results could differ materially from those 
indicated or underlying these forward-looking statements. 
The reader is therefore recommended not to unduly rely 
on these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 
statements do not reflect the potential impact of special 
items, any business combination or any other transaction 
that may be announced or occur subsequent to the date 
hereof. Richelieu undertakes no obligation to update or 
revise the forward-looking statements to account for new 
events or new circumstances, except where provided for 
by applicable legislation. 

GENERAL BUSINESS OVERVIEW 
AS AT NOVEMBER 30, 2008

Richelieu Hardware Ltd. is a leading North American 
importer, distributor and manufacturer of specialty 
hardware and related products. 

Its products are targeted to an extensive customer base 
of kitchen and bathroom cabinet, furniture, and win-
dow and door manufacturers plus the residential 
and commercial woodworking industry, as well as a 
large customer base of hardware retailers, including 
renovation superstores. The residential and commer-
cial renovation industry is the Company’s major source  
of growth.

Richelieu offers customers a broad mix of products sourced 
from manufacturers worldwide. The solid relationships 
Richelieu has built with the world’s leading suppliers 
enable it to provide customers with the latest innovative 
products tailored to their business needs. The Company’s 
product selection consists of more than 58,000 stock-
keeping units (SKUs) targeted to a base of over 
40,000 customers who are served by 49 centres in 
North America – 31 distribution centres across Canada,  
16 in the United States and two manufacturing plants  
in Canada. 
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Main product categories include functional cabinet hardware 
and assembly products for the manufacture of furniture 
and kitchen cabinets, decorative hardware products, high-
pressure laminates, decorative and functional panels, veneer 
sheets and edgebanding products, kitchen accessories, 
ergonomic workstation components, ceramic tiles, finishing 
products, whiteboards and tackboards. Richelieu also 
specializes in the manufacture of a wide variety of veneer 
sheets and edgebanding products through its subsidiary 
Cedan Industries Inc., and of components for the window 
and door industry and of mouldings through Menuiserie des 
Pins Ltée. In addition, some of the Company’s products are 
manufactured in Asia according to its specifications and 
those of its customers. 

The Company employs near 1,300 people at its head office 
and throughout the network, close to half of whom work in 
marketing, sales and customer service. More than 60% of 
its employees are Richelieu shareholders.

MISSION AND STRATEGY

Richelieu’s mission is to create shareholder value and 
contribute to its customers’ growth and success, while 
favouring a business culture focused on quality of service 
and results, partnership and entrepreneurship. 

To sustain its growth and remain the leader in its specialty 
market, the Company continues to implement the strategy 
that has benefited it until now, with a focus on:

+ continuing to strengthen its product selection by intro-
ducing every year an average of over 1,000 diversified 
products that meet its market segment needs and 
position it as the specialist in functional and decorative 
hardware for manufacturers and retailers;

+ further developing its current markets in Canada and 
the United States with the support of a specialized sales 
and marketing force capable of providing customers with 
personalized service; and

+ expanding in North America through the opening of 
distribution centres and through efficiently integrated, 
profitable acquisitions made at the right price, offering 
high growth potential and complementary to its product 
mix and expertise.

Richelieu’s solid and efficient organization, highly diversified 
product selection and long-term relationships with leading 
suppliers worldwide position it to compete effectively in a 
fragmented market consisting mainly of a host of regional 
distributors who distribute a limited range of products.

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
Years ended November 30 
(in thousands of $, except per-share amounts, number of shares and figures expressed as %)

2008
$

2007
$

2006
$

Sales 441,428 436,157 385,631

EBITDA 58,248 57,101 53,059

EBITDA margin (%) 13.2 13.1 13.8

Net earnings 35,607 33,954 31,931

+ basic earnings per share ($)
+ diluted earnings per share ($))

1.56 
1.56

1.47 
1.46

 1.38 
1.37

Cash flows 
+ per share ($)

42,907 
1.88

39,195 
1.70

36,400 
1.57

Cash dividends paid on shares 
+ per share ($)

7,301 
0.32

6,463 
0.28

5,551 
0.24

Weighted average number of shares
 outstanding (diluted) (in thousands) 22,785 23,080 23,136

As at November 30

Total assets 273,484 258,778 245,002

Working capital 130,865 120,995 103,909

Shareholders’ equity 228,234 209,096 186,584

Return on average equity (%) 16.3 17.2 18.3

Book value ($) 10.39 9.05 8.09

Total interest-bearing debt 649 6,971 13,635

Interest-bearing debt to equity ratio (%) 0.3 3.3 7.3

Cash and cash equivalents 6,126 7,879 6,964
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ANALYSIS OF OPERATING RESULTS FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2008 
COMPARED WITH THE YEAR ENDED 
NOVEMBER 30, 2007

In 2008, Richelieu continued to increase its sales in its 
Canadian markets, whereas its operations in the United States 
slowed down somewhat due to a more difficult business 
environment. Consolidated sales totalled $441.4 million, 
compared with $436.2 million for 2007, an increase of 
$5.3 million or 1.2% from 0.2% internal growth and 1.0% 
growth-by-acquisition reflecting the full-year contribution 
of the acquisitions closed in 2007 and of the distributors 
Top Supplies, Inc. in North Carolina (“Top Supplies”) and 
Acroma Sales Ltd. in British Columbia (“Acroma”) acquired 
on April 7 and July 28, 2008 respectively. 

The average annual growth in consolidated sales was 
9.1% for the last five years.

Sales to manufacturers amounted to $363.2 million 
in 2008, compared with approximately $364.0 million in 
2007. This slight decline of $0.8 million or 0.2% is due 
primarily to the prevailing economy in the United States 
and less favourable export conditions for Canadian 
manufacturers, especially in the second and third quarters 
of the year. Conversely, sales to hardware retailers 
and renovation superstores, recorded mostly in Canada, 
grew by $6.0 million or 8.3% to $78.2 million in 2008. All 
three Canadian geographic markets contributed to this 
growth, with more significant increases in Eastern and 
Western Canada.

In Canada, sales totalled $365.0 million for 2008, 
compared with $355.0 million for 2007, an increase 
of $10.0 million or 2.8%, of which 2.3% from internal 
growth in the residential and commercial woodworking 
segment and the hardware retailers including renovation 
superstores market, whereas 0.5% came from the full-
year contribution of Sasco Products Inc. (Nova Scotia)  
(acquired on May 23, 2007) and the contribution of 
Acroma for its first four months within Richelieu. Sales in 
Canada accounted for 82.7% of the year’s consolidated 
sales, compared with 81.4% in 2007. 

 

Consolidated sales  
Years ended November 30 
(in thousands of $)

2008
$

2007
$ %

Canada 365,028 355,012 + 2.8

United States (CA$) 76,400 81,145 - 5.8

(US$) 73,073 75,137 - 2.7

Average exchange rate 1.0455 1.0800 –

Consolidated sales 441,428 436,157 + 1.2

In the United States, sales amounted to US$73.1 million, 
down by US$2.1 million or 2.7% from the previous year. 
This decline is attributable to a 6.0% internal decrease, 
whereas the growth-by-acquisition was 3.3%, stemming 
from the contribution of Village Square Cabinet Supply, 
Tennessee (acquired on March 5, 2007) and Top Supplies 
for about eight months of the year. Taking into account 
the exchange rate, sales in the United States totalled 
CA$76.4 million, compared with CA$81.1 million for 2007, 
thereby representing 17.3% of the year’s consolidated 
sales, versus 18.6% in 2007.

Earnings before income taxes, interest, amortization 
and non-controlling interest (EBITDA) stood at 
$58.2 million, an increase of $1.1 million or 2.0% over 2007. 
The Company slightly improved its gross profit margin 
in 2008 due to strict control over expenses, rigorous 
management of selling prices and the positive impact on 
purchases of the strong Canadian dollar during the first  
three quarters of 2008. It continued to post a solid EBITDA 
profit margin of 13.2%, up slightly over 2007. The EBITDA 
profit margin has remained above 13% over the past 
seven years. However, note that in 2008, profit margins 
were affected by the exchange rate on U.S. sales, the 
expenses related to introducing new product lines to the 
retailers and renovation superstores market and the costs 
of merging two major distribution centres and relocating 
another centre to enhance operational efficiency and to 
lower operating costs.

The average annual EBITDA growth was 8.4% for the last 
five years.

Sales

GEOGRAPHIC  
BREAKDOWN

BY MARKET  
SEGMENT

1993 2008 2008

Manufacturers 82.3%

Retailers 17.7%

 

Consolidated EBITDA and EBITDA margin  
Years ended November 30 
(in thousands of $, unless otherwise indicated)

2008
$

2007
$

Sales 441,428 436,157

EBITDA 58,248 57,101

EBITDA margin (%) 13.2 13.1

 68% Eastern Canada 41.3%

 24% Ontario 21.2%

  6% Western Canada 20.2%

 2% United States 17.3%
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Amortization of capital and intangible assets increa-
sed by $0.7 million and $0.1 million respectively in 2008 due 
mainly to the expansion completed during the year. Interest 
decreased by more than $0.7 million to $0.1 million thanks 
to a significant reduction in debt. Income taxes amounted 
to $16.7 million, down by approximately $0.6 million from 
2007, primarily reflecting the 1.6% reduction in the combined  
tax rates. 

 

Consolidated net earnings  
Years ended November 30 
(in thousands of $)

2008
$

2007
$

EBITDA 58,248 57,101

Amortization of capital  
and intangible assets 5,458 4,685

Interest 104 842

Income taxes 16,749 17,294

Non-controlling interest 330 326

Net earnings 35,607 33,954

Net profit margin (%) 8.1 7.8 

Comprehensive income 45,305 27,757

Net earnings grew by $1.7 million or 4.9% to $35.6 million,  
representing 8.1% of consolidated sales, compared with 
7.8% in 2007. Earnings per share amounted to $1.56 
basic and diluted, compared with $1.47 basic and $1.46 
diluted for the previous year, whereas the average num-
ber of shares outstanding decreased by approximately 5% 
over the past 12 months due to the purchase of common 
shares under Richelieu’s normal course issuer bid. 

The average annual growth in consolidated net earnings 
was 9.6% for the last five years.

Comprehensive income totalled $45.3 million, on ac-
count of a latent foreign exchange gain of $9.7 million on 
translation of the financial statements of the subsidiary in 
the United States (changed to self-sustaining foreign oper-
ations on September 1, 2007), as opposed to 2007, which 
reflected latent foreign exchanges losses of $1.9 million on 
translation of the financial statements of this subsidiary and 
exchange losses of $4.0 million attributable to the change-
over effective September 1, 2007 in the method of translat-
ing the financial statements of this same subsidiary. 

 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS (unaudited)  
(in thousands of dollars, except per-share amounts)

Quarters 1 2 3 4

2008

+ Sales 96,082 114,845 111,799 118,702

+ EBITDA 10,569 14,980 15,811 16,889

+ Net earnings 6,628 9,100 9,639 10,240

basic per share 0.29 0.40  0.42 0.46

diluted per share 0.29 0.40  0.42 0.46

2007

+ Sales 94,509 116,331 111,921 113,396

+ EBITDA 10,470 14,784 15,514 16,333

+ Net earnings 5,973 8,651 9,110 10,220

basic per share 0.26 0.37 0.39 0.44

diluted per share 0.26 0.37  0.39 0.44

2006

+ Sales 82,862 102,604 96,221 103,944

+ EBITDA 9,060 14,128 14,353 15,517

+ Net earnings 5,360 8,627 8,779 9,165

basic per share 0.23 0.37  0.38 0.40

diluted per share 0.23 0.37  0.38 0.39

Quarterly variations in earnings — The first quarter ending February 28 or 29 is generally the year’s weakest for  
Richelieu in light of the smaller number of business days due to the end-of-year holiday period and a wintertime slowdown 
in renovation and construction work. The third quarter ending August 31 also includes a smaller number of business 
days due to the summer holidays, which can be reflected in the period’s financial results. The second and fourth quarters 
respectively ending May 31 and November 30 generally represent the year’s most active periods.

Note: For further information about the Company’s performance in the first, second and third quarters of 2008, the reader is referred to the interim 
management’s reports available on SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.
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Fourth quarter ended November 30, 2008

Fourth-quarter results reflect a 4.7% increase in conso- 
lidated sales which amounted to $118.7 million, up from 
$113.4 million for the corresponding quarter of 2007. This 
improvement came from 3.5% internal growth and the 
contribution of Top Supplies and Acroma for the full quarter.

Earnings before income taxes, interest, amortization 
and non-controlling interest (EBITDA) grew by 3.4% 
to $16.9 million, compared with $16.3 million for the fourth 
quarter of the previous year. The gross profit margin 
improved over the corresponding period of 2007. It should 
be pointed out that the gross margin for the last three 
months of the previous year had been affected by the 
investments made in the sales to retailers programs in the 
screws and fasteners and builders hardware categories. 
The EBITDA profit margin was satisfactory at 14.2%, 
down by 0.2% from the fourth quarter of 2007 due to the 
impact of the decrease in the Canadian dollar during the 
quarter on the operating expenses in the United States.

Net earnings amounted to $10.2 million, remaining 
stable compared with the same quarter of 2007, and the 
net profit margin stood at 8.6% for the last three months 
of the year. Earnings per share grew to $0.46 basic and 
diluted, up from $0.44 per share (basic and diluted) for the 
fourth quarter of 2007, an increase of 4.5% resulting from 
the reduction in the number of shares outstanding due to 
the purchase of common shares under Richelieu’s normal 
course issuer bid.

Cash flows from operating activities (before net 
change in non-cash working capital balances related to 
operations) totalled $12.6 million, up by $1.1 million or 
9.6% over the corresponding quarter of 2007, primarily 
reflecting the variation in future income taxes. Net change 
in non-cash working capital balances related to operations 
represented a cash inflow of $1.9 million, as opposed to 
a cash outflow of $4.0 million for the fourth quarter of 
2007. This variation came mainly from a lesser increase 
in inventories than in the same period of 2007 due to the 
opening of a new centre in Barrie (Ontario) and agreements 
with Canadian renovation superstore chains. Consequently, 
operating activities provided cash flows of $14.6 million, 
compared with $7.6 million for the corresponding period of 
the previous year.

Financing activities used net cash flows of $19.8 million, 
primarily for a long-term debt repayment of $7.2 million, the 
payment of shareholder dividends for a total of $1.8 million 
and the purchase of common shares under the normal 
course issuer bid for $10.8 million during the fourth quarter.

Investing activities used cash flows of $2.0 million for 
the purchase of various capital assets, primarily displays 
and warehousing equipment.

FINANCIAL POSITION 

Analysis of principal cash flows for 2008

Operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities (before net 
change in non-cash working capital balances related to 
operations) grew by $3.7 million or 9.5% to $42.9 million or 
$1.88 per share in 2008, up from $39.2 million or $1.70 per 
share for 2007. This growth mainly reflects the increases in 
net earnings ($1.7 million), amortization of capital assets 
($0.7 million), future income taxes ($0.6 million) and stock-
based compensation expense (approximately $0.2 million). 
Net change in non-cash working capital balances related 
to operations used cash flows of $1.7 million in 2008, 
compared with $15.6 million in 2007. This variation can be 
explained by the fact that in 2008, inventories increased by 
$3.7 million (net of a $3.3 million increase attributable to the 
U.S. dollar) while accounts receivable decreased slightly 
– whereas in 2007, inventories and accounts receivable 
had further increased, by $9.6 million and $3.4 million 
respectively. Operating activities therefore provided cash 
flows of $41.2 million in 2008, compared with $23.6 million 
a year earlier.

Change in cash and cash equivalents  
and capital resources  
Years ended November 30 
(in thousands of $)

2008
$

2007
$

Cash flows provided by  
(used by):

Operating activities 41,221 23,551

Financing activities (34,623) (12,892)

Investing activities (8,371)   (9,688)

Effect of exchange rate  
fluctuations 20 (56)

Net change in cash and  
cash equivalents

(1,753) 915

Cash and cash equivalents, 
beginning of year 7,879 6,964

Cash and cash equivalents, 
end of year 6,126 7,879

Working capital 130,865 120,995

Renewable line of credit 26,000 26,000
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Financing activities
Richelieu repaid $7.4 million in debt in 2008, compared 
with $6.8 million in 2007. The Company paid a total of 
$7.3 million in shareholder dividends, representing 20.5% 
of 2008 net earnings; this $0.8 million growth over the 
dividends paid in 2007 mainly reflects the increase in 
the quarterly dividend from $0.07 to $0.08 per share. 
Subsequent to a common share issue of $0.2 million 
($0.3 million in 2007) and the purchase of common shares 
for cancellation for a total of $20.1 million in 2008 (as 
opposed to no share purchase in 2007), financing activities 
used total cash flows of $34.6 million in 2008, compared 
with $12.9 million the previous year.

Investing activities
During the year, Richelieu invested $7.3 million in capital 
expenditures, specifically for the improvement of business 
premises, the manufacture of displays for the retailers 
market, the purchase of computer equipment and the 
relocation and merger of two major distribution centres 
and the relocation of another centre. In addition, the two 
acquisitions closed in 2008 (Top Supplies and Acroma) 
represented an investment of $1.1 million, to which was 
added a balance of purchase price of $0.5 million. Investing 
activities thus used cash flows of $8.4 million in 2008, 
compared with $9.7 million in 2007 when the Company 
had invested $4.6 million in business acquisitions and 
$5.1 million in various capital expenditures.

Financial resources
As at November 30, 2008, Richelieu had cash and cash 
equivalents of $6.1 million, compared with $7.9 million 
as at November 30, 2007. The Company also posted a 
working capital of $130.9 million for a current ratio of 
4.3:1, compared with $121.0 million and a 3.7:1 ratio at the 
end of the previous year.

Richelieu estimates that it has the capital resources 
needed to fulfill its commitments and respect its ongoing 
obligations in 2009. Its cash flows from operating activities 
should suf f ice for the funding requirements arising 
from its growth strategy and its financing and investing 
activities planned for the year ending November 30, 2009. 
Furthermore, Richelieu has an authorized line of credit 
of $26.0 million, renewable annually and bearing interest 
at the bank’s prime rate, as well as easy access to other 
outside financing if necessary. 

The expectation set forth above constitutes forward-looking 
information based on the assumption that general economic 
conditions and exchange rates will not significantly deteriorate, 
operating expenses will not increase materially, supplies will be 
sufficient to fulfill Richelieu’s requirements, and no unusual event will 
require increased capital expenditures, and is subject to the risks 
identified under “Risk Management”.

Balance sheet analysis  
as at November 30, 2008

Assets
Total assets amounted to $273.5 mill ion as at 
November 30, 2008, up from $258.8 million a year earlier, 
an increase of $14.7 million or 5.7%. The acquisition 
of Top Supplies and Acroma represented net assets 
of $1.6 million, as indicated in further detail in note 3 
to the consolidated financial statements appearing in 
the Company’s Annual Report. Current assets as at 
November 30, 2008 were up by $5.0 million over a year 
earlier, reflecting first, a $7.0 million increase in inventories 
due to acquisitions, the innovations introduced during the 
year, the medium and long-term business agreements 
with major Canadian renovation chains and to meet future 
demand, as well as an increase in inventories attributable 
to the U.S. dollar – and secondly, a decrease of some 
$1.8 million and $0.7 million respectively in cash and 
cash equivalents and accounts receivable.

Richelieu greatly reduced its total interest-bearing debt 
in 2008, lowering it from $7.0 million to $0.6 million as at 
November 30, 2008. Deducting cash and cash equivalents, 
the Company therefore had a cash surplus of $5.5 million 
at the end of 2008. With an almost debt-free balance sheet 
and substantial cash flows generated every year, Richelieu 
benefits from a healthy and solid financial position,enabling 
it to pursue its growth and expansion, particularly through  
the acquisition of companies specializing in its busi- 
ness sector.

 

Summary balance sheet 
As at November 30 
(in thousands of $)

2008
$

2007
$

Current assets 170,598 165,558

Long-term assets 102,886 93,220

Total 273,484 258,778

Current liabilities 39,733 44,563

Long-term liabilities 5,517 5,119

Shareholders’ equity 228,234 209,096

Total 273,484 258,778

 

Total interest-bearing debt 
As at November 30 
(in thousands of $)

2008
$

2007
$

Current portion of  
long-term debt 278 6,111

Long-term debt 371 860

Total 649 6,971

Less cash and cash  
equivalents 6,126 7,879

Total debt net of cash 
(surplus) (5,477)  (908)
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Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity totalled $228.2 million as at 
November 30, 2008, compared with $209.1 million as 
at November 30, 2007, a growth of $19.1 million or 9.2% 
reflecting the $9.1 million increase in retained earnings which 
amounted to $204.6 million as at November 30, 2008, 
accumulated comprehensive income of $3.5 million and a 
contributed surplus of $3.0 million. At the end of 2008, the 
book value per share was $10.39, up from $9.05 as at 
November 30, 2007.

The total interest-bearing debt/equity ratio stood at 
0.3%, compared with 3.3% as at November 30, 2007.

Capital stock
As at November 30, 2008, Richelieu’s capital stock con-
sisted of 21,976,409 common shares (23,100,737 common 
shares as at November 30, 2007) and 796,050 options 

(640,000 options as at November 30, 2007) were outstand-
ing. During 2008, the Company, through a normal course 
issuer bid, purchased 1,155,028 common shares for can-
cellation for a consideration of $20.1 million (as opposed to 
no share purchase in 2007). In 2008, the Company granted 
202,000 options (171,500 in 2007) with an average exercise 
price of $19.88 per share ($24.62 in 2007) and an average 
fair value of $5.13 per option ($7.40 in 2007) as determined 
using the Black & Scholes option pricing model based on an 
expected dividend yield of 1.5% (1% in 2007), an expected 
volatility of 21% (22% in 2007), a risk-free interest rate of 
3.67% (4.17% in 2007) and an expected life of 7.2 years  
(7 years in 2007).  

The compensation expense charged to earnings for the op-
tions granted in 2008 amounted to $1.1 million ($0.9 million 
in 2007).

CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

 

Summary of contractual financial commitments as at November 30, 2008 
(in thousands of $)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
2014 and 
thereafter Total

Long-term debt 278 124 124 123 — — 649

Operating leases 5,114 4,143 3,502 2,426 1,527 3,140 19,852

Total 5,392 4,267 3,626 2,549 1,527 3,140 20,501

For 2009 and the foreseeable future, the Company 
expects cash flows from operating activities and other 
sources of financing to meet its ongoing contractual 
commitments. This expectation consists of forward- 
looking information based on the assumption that economic 
conditions and exchange rate will not deteriorate signifi- 
cantly, operating expenses will not increase considerably, 
deliveries will meet the Company’s requirements and no 
unusual events will entail additional capital expenditures. 
This expectation also remains subject to the risks identi-
fied under “Risk Management”.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Richelieu periodically enters into forward exchange con-
tracts to fully or partially hedge the effects of foreign cur-
rency fluctuations related to foreign-currency denominated 
payables or to hedge forecasted purchase transactions. 
The Company has a policy of not entering into derivatives 
for speculative or negotiation purposes and to enter into 
these contracts only with major financial institutions.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING

Management has designed internal controls over financial 
reporting to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliabil-
ity of financial reporting. The President and Chief Executive 
Officer and the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 
have assessed the design of internal controls over financial 
reporting as at November 30, 2008 and believe that their 
design is appropriate to provide reasonable assurance. 
They have also made an assessment to determine whether 
any changes were made to internal controls over financial 
reporting during the quarter ended November 30, 2008 
that could have a material impact on such controls. No 
changes of this type have been identified.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Management is in charge of establishing and maintaining 
the Company's disclosure controls and procedures in  
order to ensure that the information used internally and  
reported externally is comprehensive and reliable. 
Richelieu's President and Chief Executive Officer and 
Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer have assessed 
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls 
and procedures and have concluded that they were 
appropriate and effective at the end of 2008.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements and other financial information 
contained in this report require management to make 
estimates, assumptions and enlightened judgments. The 
Company’s estimates are based upon assumptions which 
it believes to be reasonable, such as those based upon 
past experience. These estimates constitute the basis for 
the judgments regarding the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that would not otherwise be readily available 
through other sources. Use of different methods might 
have yielded different amounts than those presented. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price 
over the fair value of net assets acquired. Goodwill is 
tested for impairment annually or more often if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 
impaired. The impairment test consists of a comparison 
of the fair value of the reporting unit to which goodwill is 
assigned with its carrying amount. The Company uses 
the discounted cash flows method to determine the fair 
value of its reporting units, which requires estimates and 
assumptions regarding discount rate and cash flows. The 
use of different assumptions when applying the discounted 
cash flows method could result in different fair values and, 
consequently, different carrying amounts for goodwill as 
well as results of operations.

Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is 
computed under the straight-line method over their useful 
lives for the Company, represented by the period during 
which it is estimated that an asset will contribute to future 
cash flows. The use of different assumptions with regard 
to useful life could result in different carrying amounts for 
these assets as well as for amortization expenses.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets with limited useful lives are recorded at 
cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful 
lives. The amortization method and estimate of useful lives 
of the intangible assets are re-evaluated annually. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives, such as trademarks, are 
recorded at cost and are not amortized. Non-amortizable 
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more 
often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
they might be impaired. When the impairment test reveals 
that the carrying amount of an intangible asset exceeds its 
fair value, an impairment is recognized in earnings for an 
amount equal to the excess.

Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives, are reviewed for impairment 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Impairment is assessed by comparing the carrying amount 
of an asset with its expected future net undiscounted 
cash flows from use together with its residual value (net 
recoverable value). If such assets are considered to be 
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured 
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets 
exceeds the net recoverable value. The use of different 
assumptions in applying the discounted cash flows method 
could result in different fair values and, consequently, 
different carrying amounts for long-lived assets as well as 
results of operations.

Inventories
Finished goods and work in progress inventories are valued 
at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Raw materials 
inventories are valued at the lower of cost and replacement 
cost. A provision for loss in value is recorded when, based 
on past experience and current market conditions, it is be-
lieved that certain product costs will not be recovered. The 
establishment of such provision requires management to 
make estimates that could have an impact on the inventory 
valuation reported in the balance sheet and the statement 
of earnings. 

Income taxes
The Company follows the liability method of accounting 
for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax 
assets and liabilities are accounted for based on estimated 
taxes recoverable or payable that would result from the 
recovery or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in 
effect in the years when the temporary differences are 
expected to reverse. Determination of future income taxes 
requires the use of estimates, assumptions and judgments 
which, if applied differently, could result in different carrying 
amounts for future income taxes in the balance sheet and 
income taxes in the statement of earnings.

Foreign currency
The Company follows the temporal method to trans-
late its foreign currency balances and transactions into  
Canadian dollars, excluding the accounts of its self- 
sustaining foreign subsidiary. Under this method, monet-
ary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange 
rates in effect at year-end and the other items in the  
balance sheet and statement of earnings are translated 
at the exchange rates in effect at the transaction date. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in net 
earnings for the year.

Since September 1, 2007, assets and liabilities of the U.S. 
subsidiary classified as self-sustaining from a financial and 
operational standpoint are translated into Canadian dollars 
at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. 
Revenues and expenses are translated at the average 
rate in effect during the year. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses are included in a separate component of accumu-
lated other comprehensive income.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

• Adopted in 2008 

Capital and financial Instruments
Effective December 1, 2007, the Company adopted three 
handbook sections issued by the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (CICA). 

Section 1535 “Capital Disclosures” establishes standards 
for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and 
how it is managed. These standards require an entity to 
disclose its objectives, policies and processes for manag-
ing capital, summary quantitative data about what is man-
ages as capital and whether it complied with all externally 
imposed capital requirements to which it is subject and, if 
not, the consequences of such non-compliance.

Section 3862 “Financial Instruments – Disclosures” modi-
fies the disclosure requirements for financial instruments 
that were included in Section 3861 “Financial Instruments 
– Disclosure and Presentation”. This section requires enti-
ties to provide disclosures in their financial statements 
that enable users to evaluate the significance of financial 
instruments for the entity’s financial position and perform-
ance, their nature and extent of risks to which it is exposed 
during the period and at the balance sheet date, and how 
those risks are managed.

Section 3863 “Financial Instruments – Presentation” car-
ries forward unchanged the presentation requirements 
of Section 3861 “Financial Instruments – Disclosure  
and Presentation”.  

The adoption of these recommendations did not have 
any material effect on the Company’s results, financial 
position or cash flows.

• Adopted in 2007

(a) Financial instruments
Effective December 1, 2006, the Company adopted 
the new recommendations of Section 3855, Financial  
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, Section 
3865, Hedges, and Section 1530, Comprehensive Income, 
issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants  
(CICA). These new sections contain standards for the  
recognition and measurement of financial instruments, 
establish standards for hedge accounting and introduce a 
new measurement of results, comprehensive income, which 
is the change in an enterprise’s equity or net assets during a 
period from transactions from non-owner sources.

The adoption of these standards requires classifying all 
the Company’s financial assets, financial liabilities and 
financial instruments. Depending on the financial instru-
ments’ classification, specific standards are applied. The 
Company has implemented the following classifications:  

•	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	classified	as	“Financial	
assets held for trading”. They are presented at their fair 
value and the gains or losses arising from the revalua-
tion at the end of each period are recorded in consoli-
dated earnings. The carrying value of cash and cash 
equivalents represents a reasonable estimate of fair value 
given the short-term maturity of such instruments.

•	 Accounts	receivable	are	classified	under	“Loans	and	re-
ceivables”. They are normally measured at cost, which 
corresponds to their fair value at the initial measure-
ment date. Subsequent evaluations are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  
For the Company, the measured amount generally cor-
responds to cost.

•	 The	derivative	financial	instruments	that	are	designated	
as treasury hedges are included in “Assets and liabilities 
available for sale”. They are presented at their fair value, 
representing the approximate amount the Company 
would receive or pay on settlement of these contracts 
at spot rates, and the gains or losses arising from the 
revaluation at the end of each period are included in 
comprehensive income.

•	 Bank	loan,	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	and	
long-term debt are classified as “Other financial liabil-
ities”. They are initially presented at their fair value. For 
the Company, this measurement generally corresponds 
to cost due to the short-term maturity of those instru-
ments, as a result of the use of a floating rate for certain 
loans or because management estimates that the fair 
value of loans bearing interest at a fixed rate does not 
materially differ from their carrying amount, considering 
the near-term maturity of some of them and the rates 
that could actually be obtained by the Company for 
loans involving similar conditions and maturities.

Retroactive application of these new standards without 
restating prior years involved no restatement of the opening 
balance of accumulated other comprehensive income 
relating to derivative financial instruments designated as 
treasury hedges. The financial liability relating to derivative 
financial instruments is included in “Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet.
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(b) Translation of financial statements of foreign 
 operations
On September 1, 2007, the Company changed the clas-
sification of its U.S. subsidiary from an integrated foreign 
operation to a self-sustaining one due to its financial and 
operational independence. Consequently, the temporal 
method is replaced by the current rate method and the 
$3,953 exchange loss attributable to the translation of 
non-monetary items at the current rate on the changeover 
date is included in 2007 as a separate line item of compre-
hensive income.

•  Recently issued

(a) Inventories 
In March 2007, the CICA adopted the new Section 3031 
“Inventories” which replaces Section 3030 “Inventories”. 
The new section prescribes measurement of inventories 
at the lower of cost and net realizable value. It provides 
guidance on the determination of cost and requires reversal 
of previous write-downs when there is a subsequent 
increase in the value of inventories. It also requires greater 
disclosure regarding inventories and the cost of sales. 

This new standard has been effective since December 1, 
2008 and the Company estimates that its application 
during the first quarter of 2009 will not have any material 
effect on its results, financial position or cash flows.

(b) Goodwill and intangible assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued the new Section 3064 
“Goodwill and Intangible Assets” which replaces Section 
3062 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” as well as 
Section 3450 “Research and Development Expenses”.

Section 3064 states that upon their initial identification, 
intangible assets are to be recognized as assets only if 
they meet the definition of an intangible asset and the 
recognition criteria thereof. Section 3064 also provides 
further information on the recognition of internally gener-
ated intangible assets (including research and develop-
ment costs).

As for the subsequent measurement of intangible assets, 
goodwill and disclosure, Section 3064 carries forward 
most of the requirements of the old Section 3062.

This new section has been effective since December 1, 
2008 and the Company estimates that its application 
during the first quarter of 2009 will not have any material 
impact on its earnings, financial position and cash flows.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Richelieu is exposed to different risks that can have an 
impact on its profitability. To offset them, the Company 
has adopted various strategies adapted to the major risk 
factors below.

Economic conditions
Richelieu’s operations and financial results partly depend 
on general economic conditions and the economic fac-
tors specific to the renovation and construction industry. 
Any economic downturn could lead to a decline in sales 
and have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial 
performance. Richelieu’s U.S. business has slowed down 
due to more difficult economic conditions. If these adverse 
conditions were to endure or further deteriorate, sales re-
corded in the United States and the financial results of the 
Company’s U.S. operations could be affected. 

Over the years, Richelieu has nevertheless remained prof-
itable, even during economic slowdowns. In recent years, 
economic conditions have favoured Richelieu’s business 
and numerous structural trends foreshadow excellent 
business opportunities despite the challenging environ-
ment, especially in the U.S. market.  

Market and competition
The specialty hardware and renovation products segment 
is highly competitive. Richelieu has developed a business 
strategy rooted in a product offering that is unmatched 
in various targeted niche markets in North America and 
sourced from suppliers around the world, in creative mar-
keting and in unparalleled expertise and quality of service. 
Up to now, this strategy has enabled it to benefit from a 
solid competitive edge. However, if Richelieu were unable 
to implement its business strategy with the same success 
in the future, it could lose market share and its financial 
performance could be adversely affected. 

Foreign currency
Richelieu is exposed to the risks related to currency fluc-
tuations, primarily in regard to foreign-currency denomin-
ated purchases and sales made abroad. 

The Company’s products are regularly sourced from 
abroad through its import business. Thus, any increase 
in foreign currencies (U.S. dollar and the Euro) compared 
with the Canadian dollar tends to raise its supply cost and 
thereby affect its consolidated financial results. These 
currency fluctuation related risks are mitigated by the 
Company’s ability to rapidly adjust its selling prices so as 
to protect its profit margins, although an increase in foreign 
currencies can have a negative impact on its sales, espe-
cially when markets are highly volatile.

Sales made abroad are mainly recorded in the United 
States and account for 17.3% of total sales. Any decline in 
the Canadian dollar therefore tends to affect consolidated 
results. This risk is partially offset by the fact that major 
purchases are denominated in U.S. dollars.

To manage its currency risk, the Company uses derivative 
financial instruments, more specifically forward exchange 
contracts in U.S. dollars and Euros. There can be no  
assurance that the Company will not sustain losses 
arising from these financial instruments or fluctuations in 
foreign currency.
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Supply and inventory management
Richelieu must anticipate and meet its customers’ sup-
ply needs. To that end, the Company must maintain solid 
relationships with suppliers respecting its supply criteria. 
The inability to maintain such relationships or to efficiently 
manage the supply chain and inventories could affect the 
Company’s financial position. Similarly, Richelieu must 
track trends and its customers’ preferences and maintain 
inventories meeting their needs, failing which its financial 
performance could be adversely affected.

To mitigate its supply-related risks, Richelieu has built solid 
long-term relationships with numerous suppliers on sev-
eral continents, most of whom are world leaders.

Acquisitions
Acquisitions in North America will remain an important 
strategic focus for Richelieu, which plans to further expand 
in Canada and the United States in the coming years. 
The Company will maintain its acquisition criteria and pay 
special attention to the integration of acquisitions. Never-
theless, there is no guarantee that a business matching 
Richelieu’s acquisition criteria will be available and there 
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
make acquisitions at the same pace as in the past.  How-
ever, note that the U.S. market is highly fragmented and 
acquisitions are smaller sized, which reduces the inherent 
financial and operational risks.

Credit
The Company is exposed to the credit risk related to its  
accounts receivable. Richelieu has adopted a policy defin-
ing the credit conditions for its customers to safeguard 
against credit losses arising from doing business with 
them. For each customer, the Company sets a specific 
limit that is regularly reviewed. The diversification of its 
products, customers and suppliers protects Richelieu 
against a concentration of its credit risk. None of its cus-
tomers accounts for more than 10% of its revenues.

Labour relations and qualified employees
To achieve its objectives, Richelieu must attract, train and 
retain qualified employees while controlling its payroll. The 
inability to attract, train and retain qualified employees 
and to control its payroll could have an impact on the  
Company’s financial performance. 

About one-quarter of Richelieu’s workforce is unionized. 
The Company’s policy is to negotiate collective agree-
ments at conditions enabling it to maintain its competitive 
edge and a positive and satisfactory working environment 
for its entire team. Richelieu has not experienced any  
major labour conflicts over the past five years and expects 
to maintain sound working relations. Any interruption in 
operations as a result of a labour conflict could have an 
adverse impact on the Company’s financial results. 

Stability of key officers
Richelieu offers a stimulating working environment and a 
competitive compensation plan, which help it retain a stable 
management team. Failure to retain the services of a highly 
qualified management team could compromise the success 
of Richelieu’s strategic execution and expansion, which 
could have an adverse impact on its financial results. To 
adequately manage its future growth, the Company adjusts 
its organizational structure as needed and strengthens the 
teams at the various levels of its business. It should be 
noted that approximately 60% of its employees, including 
senior officers, are Richelieu shareholders.

Product liability
In the normal course of business, Richelieu is exposed to 
various product liability claims that could result in major 
costs and affect the Company’s financial position. Richelieu 
has agreements containing the usual limits with insurance 
companies to cover the risks of claims associated with its 
operations. 

Crisis management and IT contingency plan
The IT structure implemented by Richelieu enables it to 
support its operations and contributes to ensure their 
efficiency. As the occurrence of a disaster, including a 
major interruption of its computer systems, could affect 
its operations and financial performance, the Company 
has implemented a crisis management and IT contingency 
plan to reduce the extent of such a risk. This plan provides 
among others for an alternate physical location in the event 
of a disaster, generators in the event of power outages and 
a relief computer as powerful as the central computer.

SHARE PRICE

In 2008, the share price underwent unusual fluctuations 
due primarily to the conditions prevailing on stock markets. 
The share price fluctuated between $13.60 and $24.49, 
and the trading volume on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
totalled 6.0 million of shares. The share price was $15.74 
on November 30, 2008, compared with $23.04 on  
November 30, 2007. Richelieu’s share price has increased 
by 636% since its 1993 listing on the stock market. It 
should also be pointed out that the Company has paid 
shareholder dividends since 2002 and that the dividends 
paid in 2008 represented more than 20% of the year’s  
net earnings.
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SHARE INFORMATION AS  
AT JANUARY 22, 2009

Issued common shares:  21,972,409

Share options under share  
 option plan:  796,050

GROWTH OUTLOOK

Richelieu enjoys a solid leadership positioning in its 
business sector thanks to acquisitions closed almost 
annually while respecting strict criteria of compatibility 
and profitability – as well as internal growth driven by the 
synergies developed with its acquisitions and the marketing 
of innovations through its network of 49 centres in  
North America. In 2009, Richelieu intends to continue 
expanding through acquisitions and further market deve- 
lopment. Its primary growth drivers remain: 

•	 the	 residential	 and	 commercial	 renovation	 market,	
especially the kitchen and bathroom cabinet makers and 
residential and commercial woodworking segments;

•	 hardware	superstore	chains;

•	 the	constantly	evolving	trends	in	design,	technology,	
ergonomics, closet solutions and decoration worldwide, 
which represent a significant and sustained source of 
growth; 

•	 the	home	and	office	 furniture	manufacturers	 segment,	
where Richelieu could still win major market share; and

•	 acquisitions	 in	 North	 America	 matching	 Richelieu’s	
criteria of complementarity, profitability and synergies as 
well as its objective of creating shareholder value.

The growth outlook set forth above consists of forward-
looking information based on the assumption that eco-
nomic conditions and exchange rate will not deteriorate 
significantly, operating expenses will not increase con-
siderably, deliveries will meet the Company’s require-
ments and no unusual events will entail additional capital 
expenditures. This expectation also remains subject to the 
risks identified under “Risk Management”.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Further information about Richelieu, including its latest 
Annual Information Form, is available on the System for 
Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) 
website at www.sedar.com. 

(Signed) Alain Giasson 
Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer
January 22, 2009



32

Management’s Report

Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of 
Richelieu Hardware Ltd.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Richelieu Hardware Ltd. as at November 30, 2008 and 2007 and the 
consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings, comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company 
as at November 30, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Montreal, Canada (Signed) Ernst & Young LLP,  
  Chartered Accountant
December 23rd, 2008

1

1 CA auditor permit No. 17959

Related to the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Richelieu Hardware Ltd. and other financial information included in this annual report are 
the responsability of the Company’s management. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and approved by the Board of Directors. 

Richelieu Hardware Ltd. maintains accounting and internal control systems which, in management’s opinion, reasonably ensure 
the accuracy of the financial information and maintain proper standards of conduct in the company’s activities.

The Board of Directors fulfills its responsability regarding the consolidated financial statements included in the annual report, 
primarily through its audit committee. This committee which meets periodically with the Company’s managers and external 
auditors, has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of Richelieu Hardware Ltd. and has recommended that they be 
approved by the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, chartered 
accountants.

Montreal, Canada   
January 22nd, 2009
 (Signed) Richard Lord (Signed) Alain Giasson 
 President Vice-President  
 and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer



Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As at November 30 (in thousands of dollars)

2008
 $

2007
 $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6,126 7,879

Accounts receivable 60,236 60,976

Inventories 102,963 95,971

Prepaid expenses 1,273 732

170,598 165,558

Capital assets (Note 4) 22,801 19,774

Intangible assets (Notes 3 and 5) 14,313 12,974

Goodwill (Note 3) 65,772 60,472

273,484 258,778

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 38,774 37,371

Income taxes payable 681 1,081

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) 278 6,111

39,733 44,563

Long-term debt (Note 7) 371 860

Future income taxes (Note 9) 2,308 1,751

Non-controlling interest 2,838 2,508

45,250 49,682

Shareholders' equity

Capital stock (Note 8) 17,105 17,800

Contributed surplus (Note 8) 3,037 1,982

Retained earnings 204,591 195,511

Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 11) 3,501 (6,197)

228,234 209,096

273,484 258,778

Commitments (Note 10)

See accompanying notes.

On behalf of the Board:

 (Signed) Richard Lord 
 Director 
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(Signed) Mathieu Gauvin
Director
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Years ended November 30 (in thousands of dollars, except earnings per share)

2008
 $

2007
 $

Sales 441,428 436,157

Cost of sales and warehouse, selling and administrative expenses 383,180 379,056

Earnings before the following 58,248 57,101

Amortization of capital assets 4,468 3,747

Amortization of intangible assets 990 938

Interest on long-term debt 261 844

Interest on short-term debt, net (157) (2)

5,562 5,527

Earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest 52,686 51,574

Income taxes (Note 9) 16,749 17,294

Earnings before non-controlling interest 35,937 34,280

Non-controlling interest 330 326

Net earnings 35,607 33,954

Earnings per share (Note 8)

  Basic 1.56 1.47

  Diluted 1.56 1.46

See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings

Years ended November 30 (in thousands of dollars)

2008
 $

2007
 $

Net earnings 35,607 33,954

Retained earnings, beginning of year 195,511 168,020

Dividends (7,301) (6,463)

Premium on redemption of common shares for cancellation (Note 8)  (19,226) —

Retained earnings, end of year 204,591 195,511

See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years ended November 30 (in thousands of dollars)

2008
 $

2007
 $

Net earnings 35,607 33,954

Other comprehensive income

Change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash 
flow hedges net of income taxes (Note 11) — (321)

Translation adjustment of the net investment in 
self-sustaining foreign operations 9,698 (1,923)

Foreign exchange loss due to the change in  
the translation method of foreign operations reclassified  
as self-sustaining operations (Note 2) — (3,953)

9,698 (6,197)

45,305 27,757

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended November 30 (in thousands of dollars)

2008
 $

2007
 $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net earnings 35,607 33,954

Non-cash items

 Amortization of capital assets 4,468 3,747

 Amortization of intangible assets 990 938

 Future income taxes 457 (140)

 Foreign exchange gain on debt in US dollars — (518)

 Non-controlling interest 330 326 

 Stock-based compensation expense 1,055 888 

42,907 39,195

Net change in non-cash working capital  
balances related to operations (1,686) (15,644)

41,221 23,551

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of long-term debt (7,401) (6,759)

Dividends paid (7,301) (6,463)

Issue of common shares 203 330

Redemption of common shares for cancellation (20,124) —

(34,623) (12,892)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Business acquisition (Note 3) (1,094) (4,611)

Additions to capital assets (7,277) (5,077)

(8,371) (9,688)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash  
and cash equivalents 20 (56)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1,753) 915

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 7,879 6,964

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 6,126 7,879

Supplemental information

Income taxes paid 17,149 15,846

Interest paid 458 885

See accompanying notes.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

November 30, 2008 and 2007 (amounts are in thousands of dollars, except per-share amounts)

36

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Richelieu Hardware Ltd. (the “Company” ) acts as a distributor, importer, and 
manufacturer of specialty hardware and complementary products. These products 
are targeted to an extensive customer base of kitchen and bathroom cabinet, 
furniture, and window and door manufacturers plus the residential and commercial 
woodworking industry, as well as a large customer base of retailers, including 
renovation product superstores.

1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared by 
management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates. The Company’s consolidated financial statements have 
been properly prepared within the reasonable limits of materiality and in conformity 
with the accounting policies summarized below: 

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Richelieu Hardware 
Ltd. and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated upon consolidation. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments 
with an initial term of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents were 
categorized as assets held for trading and are recorded at fair value. Gains (losses) 
arising from the valuation at each period-end are recorded in the consolidated 
statement of earnings.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are categorized as loans and receivables. They are recorded at 
cost, which approximates their fair market value upon initial recognition. Subsequent 
valuations are done at amortized cost using the effective interest method. For the 
Company, such valuation is usually equivalent to the cost due to their short term 
date of maturity.

Inventories

Finished goods and work in progress inventories are valued at the lower of 
average cost and net realizable value. Raw materials inventories are valued at  
the lower of average cost and replacement cost.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is computed under the straight 
line method over their estimated useful lives. 

Buildings 20 years
Leasehold improvements Over the terms of the leases, maximum 5 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 10 years
Rolling stock 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are acquired assets that lack physical substance and that meet 
the specified criteria for recognition apart from goodwill. Acquired intangible 
assets consist mainly of customer relationships, non-competition agreements 
and trademarks. The customer relationships are amortized on a straight-line basis 
over their useful lives of 10 to 20 years while the non-competition agreements are 
amortized over the terms of the agreements. Trademarks have an indefinite life and, 
therefore, are not amortized.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment annually or more 
often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be 
impaired. When the impairment test indicates that the carrying amount of the 
intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an 
amount equal to the excess.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives, are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable by compar-
ing their carrying amount with their expected net undiscounted future cash flows 
from use together with their residual value. The impairment loss is the amount 
by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value and, if any, is 
charged to earnings. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net 
assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more often if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. The impairment 
test consists of a comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit to which 
goodwill is assigned with its carrying amount. When the carrying amount of a 
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill 
is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment 
loss, if any. Any impairment loss is charged to earnings in the period in which 
the loss is incurred. The Company uses the discounted cash flows method to 
determine the fair value of reporting units.

Other financial liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are categorized in other financial liabilities 
and are initially recorded at their fair value. Subsequent valuations are done at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. For the Company, such 
valuation is usually equivalent to the cost.

Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognized when the finished products are shipped to the customers.

Income taxes

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under 
this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are accounted for based 
on estimated taxes recoverable or payable that would result from the recovery 
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. Future tax assets 
and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected 
to be in effect in the years when the temporary dif ferences are expected to 
reverse. Changes in these balances are charged to earnings of the year in which  
they arise. 

Foreign currency

The Company follows the temporal method to translate its foreign currency 
balances and transactions into Canadian dollars, excluding the accounts of its 
self-sustaining foreign subsidiary. Under this method, monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange in effect at year-end and the 
other items in the balance sheets and statements of earnings are translated at the 
exchange rates in effect at the date of transaction. Exchange gains and losses are 
included in net earnings for the year. 

Since September 1, 2007, assets and liabilities of the US subsidiary classified 
as self-sustaining from a financial and operational standpoint are translated 
into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date.  
Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate in effect during the 
year. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in a separate component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income.
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1) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Forward exchange contracts 

The Company periodically enters into forward exchange contracts with 
major financial institutions to partially hedge the effects of foreign currency 
fluctuations related to foreign currency denominated payables and also to hedge 
anticipated purchase transactions. The Company does not enter into derivatives 
for speculative purposes. The Company uses hedging accounting only when 
documentation criteria required under Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles are met. The derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow 
hedges are categorized as financial assets and liabilities available for sale. They 
are accounted for at fair value, which represents approximately the amount that 
would be recovered should these instruments be settled at market rates, and 
gains and losses resulting from the valuation at each period-end are recorded 
in the comprehensive income. If the instrument does not qualify as a hedge, the 
derivative is recorded on the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value 
recognized in current earnings. The assets or liabilities related to those financial 
instruments are included in accounts receivable or accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense and other stock-
based payments in earnings based on the fair value method for stock options 
granted. The Black & Scholes model is used to determine the fair value on the 
award date of stock options. The compensation expense is recorded over the 
vesting period.

Earnings per share 

Earnings per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share are 
calculated using the treasury stock method and take into account all the elements 
that have a dilutive effect.

2) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Adopted in 2008

Capital and Financial Instruments

As of December 1, 2007, the Company adopted three handbook sections issued 
by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA): 

Section 1535, “Capital Disclosures”, establishes standards for disclosing infor-
mation about an entity’s capital and how it is managed. These standards require 
an entity to disclose its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, 
summary quantitative data about what it manages as capital and whether it com-
plied with any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject and, 
if not, the consequences of such non-compliance. 

Section 3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”, modifies the disclosure 
requirements for financial instruments that were included in Section 3861, 
“Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”. The standards require 
entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enables users to 
evaluate the significance of financial instruments on its financial position and 
performance, their nature and extent of risks to which it is exposed during the 
period and at the balance sheets date and how the risks are managed.

Section 3863, “Financial Instruments – Presentation”, carries forward unchanged 
the presentation requirements of the Section 3861, “Financial Instruments – 
Disclosure and Presentation”. 

The adoption of these guidelines did not have any material effect on the Company’s 
results, financial position or cash flows.

Adopted in 2007

Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations

On September 1st, 2007, the Company changed the classification of its foreign 
US subsidiary from an integrated foreign operation to a self-sustaining one due 
to its financial and operational independence. As a consequence, the temporal 
method is replaced by the current rate method and the foreign exchange loss 
of $3,953 attributable to conversion of non-monetary assets at the current 
rate of the changeover date is included in 2007 as a separate line item of the 
comprehensive income.

Recently issued

a) Inventories

In March 2007, the CICA adopted the new Section 3031, “Inventories”, which will 
replace Section 3030, “Inventories”. The new Section prescribes measurement 
of inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value. It provides guidance 
on the determination of cost, allows the use of the retail method, prohibits use in 
the future of the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, and requires reversal of previous 
write-downs when there is a subsequent increase in the value of inventories. It 
also requires greater disclosure regarding inventories and the cost of sales. 

This new standard has been effective since December 1, 2008 and the Company 
estimates that its application during the first quarter of 2009 will not have any 
material effect on its results, financial position or cash flows.

b) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In February 2008, the CICA issued a Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets”, replacing Section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, as well 
as Section 3450, “Research and Development Costs”.

The Section 3064 states that upon their initial identification, intangible assets are 
to be recognized as assets only if they meet the definition of an intangible asset 
and the recognition criteria. Section 3064 also provides further information on 
the recognition of internally generated intangible assets [including research and 
development costs].

As for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, goodwill, and disclosure, 
Section 3064 carries forward the requirements of the old Section 3062.

This new section has been effective since December 1, 2008 and the Company 
estimates that its application during the first quarter of 2009 will not have any 
material impact on its earnings, financial position and cash flows.

3) BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

2008

On April 7, 2008, the Company acquired the principal net assets of Top Supplies 
Inc. for a consideration in cash of $261(US $258), including acquisition fees, and a 
balance of sale of US $400. Based at High Point in North Carolina, this distributor 
of decorative hardware and related products mainly serves a customer base of 
home office manufacturers and commercial woodworking manufacturers. 

On July 28, 2008, the Company acquired the principal net assets of Acroma 
Sales Ltd. for a consideration in cash of $833, including acquisition fees, and a 
balance of sale of $113. This company, which has two business sites in British 
Colombia (Vancouver and Kelona) is specialised in the distribution of finishing 
products for kitchen and office manufacturers.
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3) BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)

2007

On March 5, 2007, the Company acquired the principal net assets of Village Square 
Cabinet Supply for a consideration in cash of US$3,527 and a balance of sale of 
US$860. Based in Nashville, Tennessee, this distributor of hardware and related 
products mainly serves a customer base of kitchen cabinet manufacturers.

On May 23, 2007, the Company acquired the principal net assets of Sasco 
Products Inc. for a consideration in cash of $470 and a balance of sale of $202. 
This business located in Darthmouth, Nova Scotia, distributes finishing products 
for kitchen and home furniture manufacturers.

These transactions were accounted for using the purchase method and the 
results of operations are included in the financial statements from the acquisition 
dates. The purchase price allocations are as follows:

Summary of acquisitions

 2008 2007
 $ $

Net assets acquired  
Current assets 888 1,502
Capital assets 64 115
Intangible assets 303 1,976
Goodwill 639 2,595
 1,894 6,188
Current liabilities assumed 287 363
Net assets acquired 1,607 5,825

Consideration  
Cash 1,094 4,611
Balances of sale payable (Note 7) 513 1,214

4) CAPITAL ASSETS

 2008 2007
  Accumu-  Accumu-
  lated   lated
 Cost amortization Cost amortization

  $ $ $ $

Land 3,566 — 3,566 —
Buildings 13,247 6,631 13,172 5,848
Leasehold improvements 2,745 1,839 2,191 1,604
Machinery and equipment 17,721 12,566 15,175 11,255
Rolling stock 4,494 2,989 3,886 2,582
Furniture and fixtures 7,414 4,139 4,279 3,364
Computer equipment 9,505 7,727 8,940 6,782
 58,692 35,891 51,209 31,435
Accumulated amortization (35,891)  (31,435) 
 22,801  19,774 

5) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

  2008   2007
   Accumu-    Accumu- 
   lated Net book  lated Net book
  Cost amortization value Cost amortization value 

  $ $ $ $ $ $

Intangible assets 
 with definite useful live      
Non-competition 
 agreements 446 234 212 514 253 261
Customer relationships 11,863 2,254 9,609 10,057 1,177 8,880
  12,309 2,488 9,821 10,571 1,430 9,141
Intangible assets  
 with indefinite useful live      
Trademarks 4,492 — 4,492 3,833 — 3,833
  16,801 2,488 14,313 14,404 1,430 12,974

6) BANK LOAN

The Company has an available authorized line of credit in the amount of $26 million 
(2007 – $26 million) which bears interest at the bank’s prime rate, which was 
4.00% at November 30, 2008 (2007 – 6.25%) and is renewable annually.

7) LONG TERM DEBT

 2008 2007
 $ $

Business acquisitions balances payable, 
 bearing interest at variable rates based  
 on prime rates, 3% as at November 30, 2008  
 (7% as at November 30, 2007) and maturing  
 at various dates until 2012 649 6,971
Less:  Current portion 278 6,111
 371 860

The principal instalments due on long term debt are as follows: 2009 – $278 
and $124 per year during the following three years.

8) CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized

An unlimited number of:

Common shares.

Non voting first and second preferred shares issuable in series, the characte-
ristics of which are to be determined by the Board of Directors.

Issued

 2008 2007
 $ $

21,976,409 Common shares 
 (2007 – 23,100,737) 17,105 17,800

During 2008, the Company issued 30,700 common shares (2007 – 48,125) at 
an average price of $6.62 per share (2007 – $6.87) pursuant to the exercise 
of options under the share option plan. In addition, during 2008, the Company, 
through a normal course issuer bid, purchased 1,155,028 common shares 
for cancellation in consideration of $20,124 (2007 – none), which resulted 
in a premium on the redemption in the amount of $19,226 as recorded in the 
consolidated statements of retained earnings (none in 2007).

Share option plan

The Company has a share option plan for its directors, officers and key employees. 
The subscription price of each share issued under the plan is equal to the market 
price of the shares five days prior to the day the option was granted and must be 
paid in full at the time the option is exercised. Options may be exercised one year 
after they were granted on the basis of 25% per year and may not extend beyond 
ten years from the date they were granted.

As at November 30, 2008, 444,525 options (2007 – 631,275) were still available 
to be granted.
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8) CAPITAL STOCK (CONTINUED)

In the last two years, transactions involving options are summarized as follows:

    Exercise price
  Options per share Aggregate

  # $ $  

Outstanding, November 30, 2006 536,200 4.26 to 22.43 9,166
Granted 171,500 24.30 to 24.76 4,246
Exercised (48,125) 4.26 to 22.19 (330)
Cancelled (19,575) 22.13 to 24.76 (467)

Outstanding, November 30, 2007 640,000 4.26 to 24.76 12,615
Granted 202,000 15.89 to 22.88 4,015
Exercised (30,700) 4.26 to 11.35 (203)
Cancelled (15,250) 22.13 to 24.37 (364)

Outstanding, November 30, 2008 796,050 5.15 to 24.76 16,063

The table below summarizes information regarding the share options outstanding 
as at November 30, 2008.

  Options outstanding Exercisable options

   Weighted  Weighted  Weighted
   average average  average
 Range in Number of remaining  exercise Number of  exercise
 exercise price options period price options price
 ( in dollars) ( in thousands) (years) ( in dollars) ( in thousands) ( in dollars)       

 5.15 – 9.96 59 2.17 7.42 59 7.42
 9.97  – 14.50 61 4.12 14.07 61 14.07
 14.51  – 21.69 253 8.49 19.73 53 19.31
 21.70  – 24.76 423 7.05 23.12 222 22.62
    796 6.92 20.18 395 18.58

During the year 2008, the Company granted 202,000 options (2007 – 171,500) 
with an average exercise price of $19.88 per share (2007 – $24.62) and an 
average fair value of $5.13 per option (2007 – $7.40) as determined using the  
Black & Scholes option pricing model using an expected dividend yield of 1.5% 
(2007 – 1.00%), a volatility of 21% (2007 – 22%), a risk free interest rate of 
3.67% (2007 – 4.17%) and an expected life of 7.2 years (2007 – 7 years). 
The compensation expense charged to earnings for the options granted in 2008 
amounted to $1,055 (2007 – $888). 

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share were calculated based 
on the following number of shares:

 2008 2007
 $ $

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
 – Basic 22,785 23,080
Dilutive effect under stock option plan 86 132
Weighted average number of shares outstanding  
 – Diluted 22,871 23,212

Outstanding options to purchase 589,800 common shares with the exercise price 
exceeding the average market price for the year has been excluded from the com-
putation of diluted earnings because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

9) INCOME TAXES

The main components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

  2008 2007
  $ $

Current 16,292 17,434
Future  
 Temporary differences 697 35
 Impact of tax rate changes (240) (175)
  16,749 17,294

The effective income tax rate differs from the combined statutory rates for the 
following reasons:

  2008 2007
  $ $

Combined statutory rates 31.58% 33.17%
Income taxes at combined statutory rates 16,638 17,108
Increase (decrease) resulting from:  
 Impact of tax rate changes  
  on future taxes (240) (175)
 Impact of statutory rates changes   
  for the subsidiary outside Canada 104 84
 Stock-based compensation expense 327 285
 Other non-deductible expenses 68 125
 Other (148) (133)
  16,749 17,294

Future income taxes in the balance sheets reflect the net tax impact of temporary 
differences between the value of assets and liabilities for accounting and tax 
purposes. The major components of future tax assets and liabilities of the Company 
were as follows:

  2008 2007
  $ $

Long term future tax assets  
Translation of foreign exchange rates and other  
 reserves only recognized for tax purposes 
 upon disbursement 1,681 1,372
Excess of the tax value of fixed assets  
 over their carrying value 656 660
  2,337 2,032
Long term future tax liabilities  
Excess of the intangible assets  
 and goodwill’s accounting value  
 over their tax value 4,645 3,783 
Long term net future tax liabilities 2,308 1,751

10) COMMITMENTS

(a) Leases

The Company is committed with respect to operating leases for warehouse 
and office premises expiring on various dates up to 2018. The future minimum 
payments, excluding executory costs for which the Company is responsible, are 
as follows:

 $

2009 5,114
2010 4,143
2011 3,502
2012 2,426
2013 1,527
2014 and thereafter 3,140
 19,852

(b) Forward exchange contracts

As at November 30, 2008, the Company held the following forward exchange con-
tracts having maturities of dates between December 2008 and February 2009.

Type Currency in thousands Average exchange rate

Purchase 4,410 euros 1.5619
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11) ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The accumulated other comprehensive income including the following items and 
the changes that occured during the year were as follows:

 2008 2007
 $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year (6,197) —
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges  
 during the year, net of income taxes  
 of $54 in 2007 — (321)
Translation adjustment of the net investment  
 in self-sustaining foreign operations 9,698 (1,923)
Foreign exchange loss due to the change  
 in translation method of foreign operations  
 reclassed as self-sustaining  
 operations (Note 2) — (3,953)
Balance at the end of the year 3,501 (6,197)

12) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

The carrying value of the accounts receivable and accounts payable are a reason-
able estimate of their fair value because of their short maturity.

The carrying value of the bank loans and loans included in the long-term debt 
approximates their fair value either because of the floating rate nature of some 
loans or because management estimates that the loans payable with fixed interest 
rates have no significant differences between their fair value and their carrying 
value, based on rates currently available to the Company on loans with similar 
terms and remaining maturities.

As at November 30, 2008, the fair value of the forward exchange contracts 
resulted in a gain of approximately $5 (a loss of approximately $169 as at 
November 30, 2007), representing the amount the Company would receive (pay 
in 2007) on settlement of these contracts at spot rates.

Credit risk

The Company sells its products to numerous customers in Canada, and in a lesser 
proportion in the United States of America. The credit risk refers to the possibility 
that customers will be unable to assume their liabilities towards the Company. 
The average days outstanding of accounts receivable as at November 30, 2008 
is acceptable given the specific industry in which the Company evolves.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers and generally 
does not require collateral. The allowance for doubtful accounts for the year 
ended November 30, 2008 is as follows:

   2008
   $

Balance at the beginning of the year  3,503
 Allowance for doubtful accounts  1,601
 Write-offs  (1,617)
 Exchange rate variations  174
Balance at the end of the year  3,661

The balance of accounts receivable of the Company that are overdue for more 
than 60 days, but which were not provided for, totals $1,069.

As at November 30, 2008 and 2007, no customer accounted for more than 
10% of the total accounts receivable.

Market risk

The Company’s foreign currency exposure arises from purchases and sales trans-
acted mainly in US dollars and the net positioning in US dollars from its American 
subsidiary until August 31, 2007. Administrative charges included, for the year 
ended November 30, 2008, an exchange gain of $1,084 (2007 – $33 loss).

The Company’s policy is to maintain its purchase price and selling prices of its 
commercial activities by mitigating its exposure by use of derivative financial 
instruments. To protect its operations from exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, 
foreign exchange contracts are used. Major exchange risks are covered by a 
centralized cash flow management. Exchange rate risks are managed in accordance 
with the Company’s policy on exchange risk management. The goal of this policy 
is to protect the Company’s profits by eliminating the exposure to exchange rate 
fluctuations. The Company’s policy does not allow speculative trades. 

As at November 30, 2008, a decrease of 1% of the Canadian dollar against the US 
dollar and the Euro, all other variables remaining the same, would have increased 
the consolidated earnings by $3 and increased the consolidated comprehensive 
income by $531. The exchange rate sensitivity is calculated by aggregation of the 
net foreign exchange rate exposure of the Company’s financial instruments as of 
the balance sheet date.

As at November 30, 2008, the statements of comprehensive income include a 
foreign exchange gain of $9,698 (loss of $1,923 as at November 30, 2007) on 
the net investment in self-sustaining foreign operation resulting mainly from the 
conversion of the long-term investment in that operation.

Liquidity risk

The Company manages its risk of not being able to settle its financial liabilities 
when required by taking into account its operational needs and by using different 
financing tools, if required. During the previous years, the Company has financed 
its growth, its acquisitions, and its payout to shareholders by using the cash 
generated by the operating activities.

13) GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

During the year ended November 30, 2008, more than 81% of sales had been 
done in Canada. The Company’s sales to foreign countries, almost entirely directed 
to the United States, amounted to $76,400 (2007 – $81,145) in Canadian dollars 
and to $73,073 (2007 – $75,137) in US dollars.

As at November 30, 2008, out of a total amount of $22,801 in capital assets 
(2007 – $19,774), $1,088 (2007 – $915) are located in the USA. In addition, 
intangible assets located in the USA amounted to $10,459 (2007 – $8,815) and 
goodwill at $24,337 (2007 – $19,336).

14) MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company’s objectives are as follows: 

•	 to	maintain	a	 low	debt	 ratio	 to	preserve	 its	capacity	 to	pursue	 its	growth	
both internally and by acquisition; and

•	 to	provide	an	adequate	return	to	its	shareholders.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light 
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 
assets. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or 
issue new shares.

For the year ended November 30, 2008, the Company achieved the following 
results regarding its capital management objectives:

•	 a	debt/equity	ratio:	0.3%	(2007	–	3.3%)	( interest-bearing	debt/	shareholders’	
equity); and

•	 a	return	on	shareholders’	equity	of	16.3%	over	the	last	12	months	(17.2%	for	
the 12 previous months).

The capital management objectives remain the same as for the previous fiscal year. 
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